IN	THE	SUPREME	COURT OF FLORIDA
			See A. S. STE

JUL 6 1987

JAMES ANSEL HARMON,

Appellant,

BLERK, AUMMEME COURT Deputy Clerk - à ~ CASE NO. 69,824

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR MARION COUNTY FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CHRISTOPHER S. QUARLES CHIEF, CAPITAL APPEALS ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER 112 Orange Avenue, Suite A Daytona Beach, Florida 32014 Phone: 904/252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

		PAGE NO.
TABLE OF (CONTENTS	i
TABLE OF (CITATIONS	iii
PRELIMINAL	RY STATEMENT	1
STATEMENT	OF THE CASE	2
STATEMENT	OF THE FACTS	8
SUMMARY OI	F ARGUMENTS	20
POINT I		23

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

(R) will be used to refer to the record on appeal in the instant case, while (SR) will refer to the supplemental record on appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 18, 1985, the state filed a two count information charging Larry Lee Bennett and James Ansel Harmon, the Appellant, with one count of murder in the second degree and one count of robbery with a firearm. (R1465) On November 21, 1985, a Marion County grand jury indicted Bennett and Harmon for murder in the first degree in violation of Section 782.04(1)(a), Florida Statutes (1985). (R1464) The state subsequently filed a nolle prosequi of the previously filed information. (R1474)

On November 19, 1985, the previously appointed office of the public defender moved to withdraw as counsel for James Harmon due to that office's representation of Larry Bennett, the co-defendant. (R1477) Pursuant to the trial court's order, special assistant public defenders subsequently appeared as counsel for James Harmon. (R1483,1491)

Appellant filed a demand for discovery on December 4, 1985. The state responded on December 6, 1985. (R1484-1487) The state also filed a demand for notice of alibi that same date. (R1488)

On June 13, 1986, Appellant filed a <u>pro</u> <u>se</u> petition for change of attorney. (R1497)

On November 18, 1986, Appellant filed a notice of alibi. (R1557-1558)

During voir dire, the trial court denied Appellant's challenge of juror Almeida for cause. (R114) The trial court also denied Appellant's motion for mistrial made during jury selection. (R135-136)

- 2 -

During opening statement by the prosecution, Appellant objected to the mention of the fact that the victim suffered from diabetes. The trial court overruled this objection. (R10-13)

During the testimony of Steve Germany, the trial court overruled Appellant's two hearsay objections. (R219,268-269)

Appellant made an oral motion in limine concerning evidence of Harmon's drug problem which was granted in part by the trial court. (R305-307)

The trial court overruled Appellant's objection and allowed Investigator Combs to testify as to Harmon's statements to Combs during a telephone conversation wherein Combs did not advise Harmon of his constitutional rights. (R356-358)

The trial court also overruled Appellant's objection and allowed Harmon's taped statement containing irrelevant and prejudicial matters to be played to the jury. (R367-370)

The trial court denied Appellant's motion in limine concerning evidence that the Appellant was engaged in illegal diamond activity and allowed related testimony and evidence. (R463-476,493)

During the testimony of Mark Shadle, the trial court prohibited defense counsel from asking the witness if he was the subject of an outstanding arrest warrant. (R496-499) During Shadle's testimony, defense counsel also alleged a discovery violation. (R674-689)

Appellant alleged a discovery violation when the state called Trisha Jenkins as a witness. (R565-567)

- 3 -

Over Appellant's objection, the state was allowed to elicit testimony that Harmon told a state witness that he had been addicted to cocaine in the past. (R624)

During the testimony of Larry Bennett, Harmon's codefendant, the trial court sustained an objection by the state, thus restricting cross-examination. (R791)

At several points in the trial, the trial judge commented either directly or indirectly on the credibility of Larry Bennett, a key state witness. (R827,839-841,853,925-926)

The trial court permitted the state to present evidence that Harmon was involved in an insurance fraud scheme over Appellant's objection. (R923-924)

The trial court also overruled defense counsel's objection to the state impeaching their own witness with the testimony of another witness. (R932-933)

At the conclusion of the state's case-in-chief, defense counsel moved for a judgment of acquittal, which the trial court denied. (R936-938)

Over Appellant's objection, the trial court forced defense counsel to continue the trial into the evening hours when trial counsel was extremely fatigued. (R948-953,1045-1046,1061)

The trial court overruled Appellant's objections to the state's cross-examination of defense witness Bobby Sheally. (R1020-1023)

The trial court refused to qualify Joe Taylor, a defense witness, as an expert in the field of crime scene reconstruction. (R1037-1041)

- 4 -

The trial court denied Appellant's motion for mistrial based upon allegations that the trial court commented on Harmon taking the stand as a witness. (R1045,1059-1061,1072-1074)

During the direct examination of James Harmon, the trial court sustained the state's hearsay objection and instructed the jury to disregard Harmon's answer. (R1185-1186)

During cross-examination of Harmon, the trial court denied Appellant's motion for mistrial as well as a requested jury instruction when the state's questions implied that Harmon was wanted for collateral crimes in Texas. (R1212-1214)

At the close of all of the evidence, Appellant renewed his motion for judgment of acquittal which the trial court denied. (R1264-1265)

During final summation by defense counsel, the trial court sustained the state's objection and instructed the jury that the thirteen and a half month delay prior to trial could not be blamed on either party. (R1335) During defense counsel's summation, the trial court also sustained the state's objection and instructed the jury that the evidence did not reveal the violent or non-violent nature of Harmon's six prior felony convictions. (R1359-1362)

The trial court denied Appellant's special jury instruction on circumstantial evidence. (R953-955,1076-1077)

The trial court conducted a hearing following the revelation that a spectator in the audience had passed an envelope containing cash to a juror during closing argument. (R1417-1421)

- 5 -

Following deliberations, the jury returned with a verdict of guilty of murder in the first degree while engaged in the perpetration of a robbery. (R1601)

During the penalty phase of the trial, the trial court permitted the state to argue what the defense contended were inappropriate aggravating circumstances for which the trial court had decided not to instruct the jury. (R1814-1816) Appellant also objected to jury instructions concerning the aggravating circumstances dealing with cold, calculated and premeditated and for the purpose of avoiding arrest. The trial court overruled these objections. (R1810-1814,1816-1821,1824)

Following deliberations, the jury returned with a recommendation that the trial court impose a sentence of life imprisonment upon James Harmon without possibility of parole for twenty-five years. (R1613) The trial court chose to disregard the jury's recommendation and sentenced James Harmon to death. (R1441-1463,1733-1737) The trial court entered written findings of fact finding four aggravating circumstances and rejecting all mitigating circumstances. (R1730 - 1732)The trial court found that (1) the Appellant was previously convicted of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to another person; (2) that the capital felony was committed for pecuniary gain; (3) that the capital felony was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification; and (4) that the capital felony was committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest. The trial

- 6 -

court rejected the jury recommendation of life and found that the only appropriate sentence in this cause was death.

The trial court denied Appellant's motion for new trial. (R1630-1738) Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal on December 23, 1987. (R1740) This brief follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

At approximately 12:30 a.m. on October 16, 1985, Deputy Chip Wildy responded to a radio call. He went to a house located in the Florida Highlands, a rural area in Marion County. Through the kitchen window, Wildy saw the body of an elderly man lying on his back on the kitchen floor. (R73-80, 110-111)) Wildy promptly summoned his supervisor. (R78-80) After Sergeant Hamby arrived at the scene, he and Wildy entered the unlocked back door and walked into the kitchen to within two feet of the body. (R105) Shortly thereafter, the pair came back out of the house and called the evidence technicians. (R83-84) Keith Gauger, a medical examiner investigator, examined the body at the scene. He found no lacerations or wounds and failed to discover any trauma. He pronounced Charles Otis Germany dead at 5:05 a.m. (R213-217) Although the medical examiner made the determination at the scene that the death was the result of natural causes, Sergeant Hamby decided to treat the death as a homicide and process the crime scene. (R85,103-104) There were no obvious signs of forced entry at the house. (R100)

Georgia Whitston, an evidence technician with the Marion County Sheriff's Office, processed the scene. (R112,116) She took photographs of the interior of the house. Although she looked for a wallet, she found none. (R120) Whitston found a fully loaded Smith and Wesson .45 revolver in the house. (R120-121) There was a small amount of blood spatter throughout the house in a path going into and through the living room and into one of the bedrooms. The blood spatter was found on the

- 8 -

furniture and the floor. (R122) Whitston opined that the blood spatter indicated someone staggering or walking through the other rooms while dripping blood. (R124) The victim had a small trickle of blood down his back as well as some from his nose and mouth. (R124-125) Towels surrounded the victim's head damming the blood. (R125) The radio was playing and there were no lights on in the house. (R126) Whitston found a coffee cup with coffee in it on the kitchen table. She also found a can filled with silver coins on the table. (R125) The victim had no shoes or shirt on, although he was wearing trousers. His glasses were found near the body. (R126) They found no money in the victim's pockets. (R127) Whitston found a latent fingerprint in blood on the back of the bathroom door. She photographed it and attempted to lift it with negative results. The close-up photograph of the print bore inconclusive results. (R128) Whitston could not explain why she did not simply cut out the portion of the door that contained the bloody fingerprint. (R177-178)

Throughout her processing of the scene that night, Whitston was operating under the belief that the death was a natural one. As a result, the police admitted that they were not as thorough in their investigation of the crime scene. (R170) After their preliminary investigation that evening, the police turned the house over to Stephen Germany who moved and touched many items inside the house that night. (R290,298-299) After finding out that the death was a result of a bullet wound to the back of the head, Whitston returned to the house the next day to process the crime scene more completely. (R170)

- 9 -

Whitston found several latent fingerprints in the house (R129) She compared these latents with fingerthe next day. prints of James Harmon and Larry Bennett. One match was made. Whitston admitted that the fact that Harmon and Bennett (R131) had been residents of the house for a short time shortly before the murder reduced any significance in finding their fingerprints in the house. (R132-133) Several cigarettes found at the scene could have been smoked by Larry Bennett but were definitely not smoked by either Harmon or Charles Germany. (R523-524) Whitston opined that the house did not appear to be the scene of a burgla-(R150) ry.

Doctor Thomas M. Techman, a specialist in forensic pathology performed the autopsy on Charles Germany. He determined that the cause of death was a single gunshot wound to the head. The bullet came to rest just in back of the victim's nose. The wound could have resulted in a large gush of blood splashing from the nasal area. (R228-232) Doctor Techman determined that the time of death was between 12 and 36 hours prior to 5:00 a.m. on Wednesday, October 16. (R237) Doctor Techman concluded that the wound did not appear to be a contact (R242) wound, i.e., at close range. The lethal projectile was a small caliber bullet. (R242)

Stephen Edward Germany, last saw his father, Charles Otis Germany, alive during the Sunday evening hours of October 13, 1985. (R264-265) As a result of Charles Germany's poor health and blindness, several family members became concerned when they could not reach Charles Germany by phone over a period

- 10 -

of several days. (R249-257,265-271) Stephen Germany eventually decided to go to his father's house to check on him. He arrived shortly after 1:00 a.m. on October 16 to find the police already (R271-272) Stephen Germany was convinced that his at the scene. father's death was the result of a murder rather than natural causes. (R219) He was extremely agitated since the police made him wait 45 minutes before they let him near the house. (R272) Stephen Germany walked around the yard looking for evidence. He noticed tire tracks that did not belong there. He also found a Marlboro pack that had not been there when he had visited his father on Sunday. (R273-275) Another empty Marlboro pack was also found in the area. (R275-276) One of the packs had a latent fingerprint lifted from it that did not match either Larry Bennett or James Harmon. (R178-179) Charles Germany did not smoke cigarettes. (R275,1288)

Stephen Germany estimated that his father had between \$2,500 and \$5,000 in cash at the house before his death. (R277) Stephen Germany was convinced that Larry Bennett and James Harmon had murdered his father. He told the police at the scene that they should apprehend these two individuals. He also described their vehicle. (R284-285) Stephen Germany was also convinced that Marion Germany, his uncle, might have planned the murder with Bennett and Harmon. Stephen also told the police of his suspicions of Marion Germany. Stephen Germany was sure that Marion at least had prior knowledge of the killing. (R293-294)]

Gerald Combs, a major crimes investigator for the Marion County Sheriff's Department, interviewed some of Charles

- 11 -

Germany's family members on the seventeenth. (R338-341) As a result of accusations from them as well as the initial accusations made by Stephen Germany at the scene, Combs concentrated Combs on James Harmon and Larry Bennett as suspects. (R340-341) arranged through Wilfred Goff, a friend of Harmon's, for Harmon to call Combs at Goff's home on the twenty-second. (R353) Harmon called Goff from Texas where he was in close proximity to the Mexican border. (R353-358) Goff had previously told Harmon that the police were looking for him and Bennett. Harmon agreed to meet Combs in Florida for an interview as soon as he could drive there from Texas. (R359) On October 23, 1985, Harmon voluntarily met with Combs and gave a statement which was record-(SR1-34) Harmon told Combs of his business arrangement with ed. Marion Germany and accounted for his whereabouts the weeks before and the days after the murder. Harmon had previously told Combs on the phone that Bennett had left him in Texas and declined to return to Florida to try to clear up the situation. (R359) After the statement, Harmon gave Combs consent to search his truck. (R371-372) Combs then declined to arrest Harmon, and Harmon drove back to South Carolina. (R372)

Larry Lee Bennett was the undisputed star witness for the State of Florida at James Harmon's trial. After Harmon had talked to Combs, Larry Bennett approached the police in Glendale, Arizona to whom he gave a statement on October 26, 1985. Bennett recounted to the police that he was with James Harmon when Harmon shot Charles Germany. Although Bennett implicated himself somewhat, he placed complete blame for the murder on James

- 12 -

Harmon. (R533-548) Based upon Bennett's statements, Combs arrested James Harmon for the murder of Charles Germany. (R377-378) Bennett copped a plea to second-degree murder in return for a seventeen year sentence cap. Bennett also agreed to testify against James Harmon. (R567-581) After the trial, the trial court placed Bennett on probation for a period of fifteen (15) years. (See attached Appendix).

Bennett met Harmon in Laredo, Texas where they were both involved in the appliance business. Both also collected handguns which they usually kept in a briefcase during their many travels. (R690-694) Bennett met the Germanys through Jim Harmon. They both left Texas and went east in September of 1985. They went to the house owned by the Germanys in the Florida Highlands. They arrived in early to middle September and stayed for a couple of weeks. (R694-696)

The house in the Highlands was sort of a refuge for the group. Bennett and Harmon usually slept in a small room at the end of the shed while Marion, Buck, and the rest of the Germanys slept in the house. (R697-700) The group bought used appliances around the state, reconditioned them, and resold them. (R702-703)

Near the beginning of October, the group took some of the appliances backck to South Carolina. (R705) That weekend, they sold some of the appliances at a flea market in South Carolina. (R708) During their stay in South Carolina, Bennett

- 13 -

and Harmon spent some nights with Bobbie Faye Gunter, some with the Gotfs, and sometimes stayed in a motel. (R711)

Bennett met Marion Germany's daughters, Kathy and Barbara, that weekend. (R712) Bennett and Harmon attempted to fix Kathy's pump at her house, but ended up breaking the pipe. They continued working on the pipe until 11:00 that (R713 - 714)Monday evening before finally going back to Wilfred Goff's house. (R714) Bennett began preparing for bed when Harmon announced a trip. According to Bennett, it was not unusual for the pair to drive to parts unknown in the middle of the night. (R715)During their preparations to leave, Bobby Sheally came by the Goff's house looking for a certain mechanical part. It took the pair approximately 15 minutes to find it before they could leave. (R715-716) Bennett testified at trial that he did not know where they were going or what they were planning to do. (R716) Bennett thought that they might be going to rob a jewelry store, but he really did not know. (R722) However, Bennett had indicated in previous statements that he knew why they were going to Florida. (R810,814) Bennett drove south on State Road 301 or U.S. 1 with Harmon riding in the passenger seat. (R718-719)

They arrived at Buck Germany's house in the Highlands right at daybreak. They noticed that Buck's car was parked outside. (R722) Bennett did not want Buck to think that they were prowlers, so he identified himself from outside the house. (R723-724) Bennett entered the kitchen through the rear door and began to make some coffee for himself while Buck Germany sat at the kitchen table. Harmon evidently remained sleeping outside in

- 14 -

the car. (R724-725) Buck complained that his refrigerator was malfunctioning, so Bennett performed a quick repair. (R725-726) Harmon entered the house and immediately went into the bathroom. (R726) Bennett leaned against the kitchen table with his head down and talked to Buck Germany. (R727) Bennett eventually looked up and was surprised to see Harmon standing behind Buck pointing a gun at the back of Buck's head. Half a second later, Harmon fired the fatal shot. (R727)

According to Bennett, Germany attempted to stand up but fell forward to the floor. (R728) From Bennett's perspective, it appeared as if Germany's face almost exploded. (R728) Harmon then reached down into Buck's back pocket and retrieved his wallet. He looked inside before removing the cash and placing it in his own pocket. (R730) Bennett retrieved some towels and began to clean up. Harmon told Bennett to wipe the area down for fingerprints. (R730-731) Afterwards, the pair got back into the car and drove back to Columbia on State Road 301. (R739 - 740)Along the way, Harmon dismantled the murder weapon and threw it into a river approximately 40 miles north of the Florida-Georgia (R745) He also cut up Buck Germany's wallet and identiline. fication before throwing them out the car window. (R745 - 746)The pair stopped at a rest area in South Carolina in order to change their clothes. They deposited their old clothes in a dumpster. (R748) Harmon counted out \$2,251.00 and gave Bennett the small bills (approximately \$250.00) for gas. (R746-747) Over the next few weeks, Harmon gave Bennett additional money. (R747)

- 15 -

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