## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAMES ANSEL HARMON,

SEP 11 1087

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO.

B5, 824

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

# ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KEVIN KITPATRICK CARSON ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL 125 N. Ridgewood Avenue Fourth Floor Daytona Beach, Florida 32014 (904) 252-1067

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

##

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

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The vast majority of alleged collateral crime POINT ONE: evidence, which appellant claims was erroneously admitted into evidence, was allowed into evidence by appellant without As such, appellant's arguments, as they relate to objection. this evidence, are not preserved for appellate review. the remaining evidence about which appellant complains is not collateral crime evidence. Other claims by appellant are not supported by the evidence. There is sufficient independent evidence of appellant's quilt to render harmless any alleged The alleged collateral crime evidence was not made a feature of the trial by the state.

POINT TWO: The out-of-court statements, offered through two state witnesses, were not offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted therein, and therefore, were not hearsay. The disputed testimony was tied-up through other witnesses.

POINT THREE: The trial court did not comment on the credibility of Larry Bennett. It correctly guided the use of impeachment evidence.

POINT FOUR: Appellant has failed to show that either of his trial attorneys were unable to adequately represent him during the evening portion of his trial. Contrary to the advocacy of the appellant, appellant's attorneys did not claim that they were extremely fatigued or that the effectiveness of their representation of appellant was impaired in any way.

<u>POINT FIVE</u>: The ultimate decision as to whether the death penalty should be imposed rests with the trial judge. The trial

court, in finding four aggravating factors and no mitigating factors, properly overruled the jury recommendation of life imprisonment.

<u>POINT SIX</u>: The trial court finding that there are four aggravating factors is supported by evidence proven beyond a reasonable doubt. The court properly considered and weighed the evidence in mitigation in finding that no mitigating circumstances existed in this case.

<u>POINT SEVEN</u>: Florida's capital sentencing statute has been repeatedly held to be constitutional by previous decisions of this court. This issue was not preserved for appellate review.

#### POINT ONE

THE EVIDENCE OF ALLEGED COLLATERAL CRIMES, WHICH REMAIN PRESERVED FOR APPEAL, WERE RELEVANT TO ISSUES OTHER THAN PROPENSITY TO COMMIT THE CRIME CHARGED OR BAD CHARACTER OF THE APPELLANT.

#### ARGUMENT

In his first point on appeal, appellant claims that reversible error occurred during his trial by virtue of the admission into evidence of collateral crime and bad acts which lacked probative value, were offered in evidence only to show appellant's bad character or criminal propensity, and which became a feature of the trial. The appellee respectfully disagrees. In support of his argument, appellant provides a long list of allegedly "objectionable" evidence.

At the outset, it should be noted that appellant candidly admits that all of the allegedly improper evidence he calls to the attention of this court, with the exception of about six facts or statements, was admitted without a single objection being first presented to the trial court. As a result, under the settled law of this state, appellant's complaints in this court regarding this evidence have not been preserved for appeal. Richardson v. State, 437 So.2d 1091 (Fla. 1983); Ferguson v. State, 417 So.2d 639 (Fla. 1982); Clark v. State, 363 So.2d 331 (Fla. 1978). Appellant does not have the privilege of refraining making a timely objection to matters he feels prejudicial, and then waiting until he has been convicted before raising a cry of prejudice. See, German v. State, 379 So.2d 1013 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980). This is the kind of "sandbagging" that the

Florida contemporaneous objection rule was designed to prevent.

See, Wainwright v. Sykes, 433 U.S. 72, 97 S.Ct. 2497, 2508, 53

L.Ed.2d 594 (1977), Castor v. State, 365 So.2d 701 (Fla. 1978).

As legal authority for support of his claim of error, appellant relies on Williams v. State, 110 So.2d 654 (Fla. 1959). In Williams, this court held that though similar fact evidence of other crimes is admissible when relevant to prove any fact in issue, an exception to the rule of admissibility exists when the sole relevance of the similar fact evidence is to show bad character or a propensity of the accused to commit the charged crime. The Williams rule is a more specific application of the general principle that evidence is admissible if relevant to prove a fact in issue unless its admissibility is precluded by some specific rule of exclusion. Ruffin v. State, 397 So.2d 277 (Fla. 1981).

The evidence presented in this case is not similar fact evidence, and, as a result, does not fall within the Williams rule. See, Gorham v. State, 454 So.2d 556 (Fla. 1984). Thus, appellant's claim, raised for the first time on appeal, that he is entitled to notice of intent to use similar fact evidence is without merit. Therefore, the test of admissibility of the evidence becomes its relevance. Additionally, appellant did not complain of lack of notice in the trial court so this argument is not preserved for appeal. Castor, supra.

The first collateral crime evidence to which appellant claims to have interposed a contemporaneous objection and preserved for appellate review, relates to a statement by a

witness, on redirect examination, that appellant had a cocaine habit and kicked the habit. (R 264). Appellant has not preserved this issue for review. When appellant objected to the prosecutor's redirect examination of the witness regarding her conversations about drugs with appellant, the legal basis for the objection was as follows:

MR. SHELNUTT: Judge, that's beyond the scope of (cross) examination.

(R 623-624). The trial court overruled the objection.

It is settled, in Florida, that to meet the objectives of the contemporaneous objection rule, an objection must be sufficiently specific both to apprise the trial court of the putative error and preserve the issue for intelligent appellate In order for a legal argument to be review. Castor, supra. cognizable on appeal, it must be the specific argument asserted as legal ground for objection in the trial court. Steinhorst v State, 412 So.2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982); Rosemond v. State, 489 So.2d 1185 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986). Since appellant did not object to the prosecutor's redirect examination on the basis of an allegedly improper attack on character by the use of collateral crime evidence, he may not now assert that argument on appeal. Appellate counsel must be bound by the acts of trial counsel. Castor, supra. Had a proper basis for the objection been stated, the trial court would have been able to consider the examination in the proper context and the prosecutor might have been required to explore and explain the reason for which he sought to elicit the testimony. The objection was properly overruled on the basis that the prosecutor's redirect examination was not beyond the

scope of appellant's cross-examination. <u>See</u>, Ehrhardt, Florida Evidence, § 104.2 (2d Ed 1984).

During cross-examination of Kathy Gates, appellant sought to elicit favorable evidence relating to a trait of his character present himself as a person who maintained long term relationships and who had feelings for other people. Appellant seeking, on cross-examination, to portray himself in a was positive light to the jury. This set the factual background for the prosecutor's redirect examination which sought to qualify and limit the effect of appellant's cross-examination by offering, in rebuttal, evidence that appellant also had a character trait of self-indulgence, as demonstrated by his use of drugs. There was no prejudice by this admission, since the witness also said that the appellant had kicked his drug habit (R 624). Appellant opened the door to the prosecutor's rebuttal evidence. See, § 90.404(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (1985).

Even if evidence of appellant's former drug habit was improperly admitted, a reversal is not required. The basis for prohibiting admission of collateral crimes is as follows:

Evidence that the defendant has committed a similar crime, or one equally heinous, will frequently prompt a more ready belief by the jury that he might have committed the one with which he is charged, thereby predisposing the mind of the juror to believe the prisoner guilty.

Nickels v. State, 90 Fla. 659, 685, 106 So. 479, 488 (1925) (Emphasis supplied). Appellant's former drug habit is not similar and not as equally cold-hearted as the murder, nor was

appellant's habit a crime of violence. Therefore, it is unreasonable that a jury would infer from appellant's former habit that appellant would commit first-degree murder. Since there was sufficient direct evidence of appellant's guilt of first-degree murder, any error was harmless. See, Craig v. State, 12 F.L.W. 269 (Fla. May 28, 1987).

Appellant next claims that, over objection, the trial court erroneously allowed the state to introduce collateral crime evidence "that (appellant) was involved with stolen jewelry." The record simply does not support appellant's assertion. trial court specifically advised the prosecutor and appellant's trial attorneys, that the witness, Mark Shadle, was only to talk about going to South Carolina, picking up some diamonds for the appellant, selling the diamonds, and splitting the proceeds with appellant (R 472-473). The prosecutor was told not to mention that the diamonds might be stolen (R 474). The prosecutor complied with the court order (R 489-490). Thus, appellant's claim that collateral crime evidence that he was involved with stolen jewelry was improperly admitted into evidence is without merit. The discussion regarding diamonds was not offered for the single purpose of impugning appellant's character, but rather, was offered to demonstrate to the jury the trust relationship which had developed between appellant and Shadle. This allowed the jury to see the entire relationship which existed between the two men. It was relevant to assist the jury in understanding why appellant would admit committing murder to a person who was otherwise a complete stranger. See, Waterhouse v. State, 429

So.2d 301 (Fla. 1983). Parenthetically, the appellee notes that this court has permitted evidence of other murders to be considered by a jury in order to establish the entire context out of which a charged murder occurred. See, Smith v. State, 365 So.2d 704 (Fla. 1978).

Appellant's claim that evidence of a plan shared by appellant, Larry Bennett, and Marion Germany to commit insurance fraud and get rich, indirectly, in the appliance business, appears to have been preserved for review. This testimony was elicited during redirect examination of Larry Bennett (R 923after appellant, during cross-examination, Bennett about the intent of Bennett and appellant to get rich in the appliance business (R 800). During cross-examination of Bennett, appellant placed his character in issue through Larry Bennett (R 795-801). Though Bennett considered appellant to be a likeable fellow, other people did not (R 797). Bennett and appellant were good friends, similar to a father/son or older brother/younger brother type of relationship (R 797). Appellant kept Bennett from getting caught (R 798). The insurance fraud evidence was not offered to prove bad character, but was offered to make clear, for the jury, the relationship between Bennett and appellant. Bennett was allowed to testify, without objection by appellant, that Bennett had never before seen appellant do anything violent (R 918).

Reversal of appellant's conviction is not required if the testimony regarding insurance fraud is erroneously admitted; insurance fraud is not a crime which is "similar" or as "equally

is heinous" as murder, so that it highly unlikely unreasonable to presume that a jury would infer that because a person might use appliances in insurance fraud, the same person See, Johnston v. State, 497 So.2d 863 would murder a friend. (Fla. 1986). Larry Bennett also testified that violence was outof-character for appellant (R 744). Since there was sufficient direct evidence of appellant's guilt of first-degree murder, any error was harmless.

Appellant's claim that evidence that Texas authorities wanted appellant for other unrelated crimes was admitted over his objections is without merit. The record reflects that the state presented no such evidence and that it was appellant who actually testified about this during his own direct examination (R 1173, 1212-1213). As a result, this aleged error was also created by appellant so he cannot now complain on appeal. White v. State, 446 So.2d 1031 (Fla. 1984); Clark, supra. Appellant admitted having six (6) felony convictions (R 1202).

Appellant's claim that a jury instruction constitutes objectionable collateral crime evidence is not supported by the record. The trial court was properly instructing the jury that it was not permitted to know the nature of appellant's six (6) prior felony convictions which the state had used in impeaching the appellant (R 1360-1362). Appellant's attorney had attempted to mislead the jury into believing that the prior convictions were for non-violent felonies, invited this situation, and thereby is precluded from complaining on appeal. White, supra; Clark, supra.

Appellant's claim that collateral crime evidence of appellant engaging in "unnamed illegal activity with Marion Germany" is also unsupported by the record. The transcript of appellant's conversation with Investigator Combs demonstrates that the disputed excerpt relates only to illegal activities of Marion Germany, not appellant (SR 8-9). The disputed excerpt does not connect appellant to any illegal activities.

Finally, appellant's claim that collateral crime evidence which allegedly showed that appellant had been incarcerated in a Kentucky county jail was improperly admitted, is simply not supported by the record. The witness, Mickey Powell, testified that it was Powell who was incarcerated in the jail when Powell met appellant. There was no testimony that appellant was incarcerated in the Kentucky jail at the time appellant met Powell (R 647-648). Appellant expressed satisfaction with the clarifying instruction on the issue which was given by the trial court at appellant's request (R 649-650).

Any error in admitting any collateral crimes into evidence was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Larry Bennett observed appellant commit the murder (R 726-727). Appellant admitted killing the victim to Mark Shadle (R 483). Shadle testified that appellant attempted to solicit him to assist in providing appellant with an alibi (R 510). Appellant admitted being untruthful with law enforcement officers who were investigating the crime (R 1249-1251, 1255-1257). The disputed evidence was not unduly emphasized as it was presented to the jury. The prosecutors did not refer to any alleged collateral crimes in

closing argument to the jury. Thus, it is clear that any alleged collateral crimes which were admitted into evidence were not turned into a feature of the trial by the state. A trial court is not required to, on its own motion, give a cautionary instruction for the reception of collateral crime evidence.

Ashley v. State, 265 So.2d 685, 694 (Fla. 1972). No reversible error has been demonstrated regarding this point on appeal.

#### POINT TWO

THE TESTIMONY OF STEPHEN GERMANY AND THE MEDICAL EXAMINER DID NOT CONTAIN HEARSAY SINCE THE OUT-OF-COURT STATEMENTS WERE NOT OFFERED TO PROVE THE TRUTH OF THE MATTER ASSERTED THEREIN.

In this second point on appeal, appellant claims that hearsay testimony was improperly admitted, over objection, twice during his trial. Appellant claims that certain testimony of Stephen Germany, the victim's son, and Keith Gauger, the medical examiner's investigator, was hearsay.

The testimony of Stephen Germany was a part of a line of questioning which began with the following question from the prosecutor relating to the last time that Stephen had seen his father alive:

- Q. And would you tell us briefly what the circumstances were around your seeing him?
- (R. 264-256). Shortly after this question was asked, Stephen Germany testified, over appellant's hearsay objection, as follows:
  - A. Around 5:00 on Monday, Marion called me and said that he was supposed to be here already on Monday but something had happened with his daughter's well and it wasn't working and he had to stay there until it was fixed and asked me was I planning on going back over there anytime soon.
- (R 269). Considered in its entire context, it is clear that Stephen Germany's testimony regarding Marion Germany's statements was not offered to prove that Marion Germany was supposed to be in Florida on Monday, or that something had happened to Kathy

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